(3,02

FILED SID J. WHITE

DEC 19 1991

UER 16 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 77,837 [TFB No. 89-30,129 (09E)]

v.

HURLEY P. WHITAKER,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 217395

And

KRISTEN M. JACKSON
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801
(407) 425-5424
Attorney No. 394114

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Ninth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "E" voted to find probable cause in The Florida Bar case number 89-30,129 (09E) on January 4, 1991 for violating Rules 4-1.3 and 4-1.4 of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The Bar filed its Complaint on April 29, 1991 and the final hearing was held on August 9, 1991. The Referee submitted his report on September 17, 1991 and recommended the respondent be found guilty of violating the following Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client and 4-1.4 for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information, and failure to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions.

The Referee recommended the respondent be admonished as provided in Rule 3-5.1(a) of the Rules of Discipline before the grievance committee of the Ninth Judicial Circuit and that the respondent be placed on probation for twenty-four months. The Referee recommended as terms of probation that the respondent review his case load with a designated member of the grievance committee at least each ninety days and submit a report of his

open litigation files in writing to the grievance committee with information regarding the diligent prosecution of the cases and communications with clients. The Referee further recommended that the respondent submit within thirty days of the disciplinary order a written plan of procedure and policy to facilitate adequate communication with clients and a tickler system to remind him to use diligence. The Referee considered the personal history and prior discipline record of the respondent: his age at thirty-eight, admission to the Bar in 1983, two prior grievance complaints but no disciplinary convictions.

The Referee's report was considered by the Board of Governors at its November, 1991 meeting. The Board voted to appeal the Referee's recommendation as to discipline.

The Bar filed its Petition For Review on November 18, 1991.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The respondent was hired by in January, 1986 to investigate an alleged sexual molestation of her three and one half year old daughter by an employee of a day-care center. The respondent agreed to investigate the case and sent her two insurance claim forms which Ms. Simon signed and returned to the respondent. She did not hear from the respondent for several months and had telephoned him often but only talked with him a few times as he was either in court, busy, or had some other excuse. (RR. pp. 2, 3)

The respondent filed an insurance claim on April 18, 1986. The deadline for filing suit on that claim was July 17, 1987, to which the respondent was assuming a four year statute of limitations applied. (RR. p. 6; TR. pp. 54,65) The respondent filed a lawsuit against the day-care center and its employee on June 30, 1986 only to maintain a claim for joint and several liability which would be eliminated by a new law effective July 1, 1986. The respondent voluntarily dismissed the lawsuit on June 29, 1987, without prejudice, to avoid dismissal for failure to prosecute. The respondent never served the complaint on the defendants. (RR. p. 6; TR. pp. 51-53,55) The respondent failed to inform Ms. Simon that he had filed the lawsuit or that it had

been voluntarily dismissed. The respondent did not refile the complaint prior to the July 17, 1987 deadline thereby resulting in such claim being lost. (RR. p. 5; T. pp. 12,13; TR. p. 65)

Ms. Simon wrote the respondent in June 1988 requesting information on her case. Due to the respondent's failure to respond Ms. Simon filed a complaint with The Florida Bar in July 1988 to which the respondent responded with a letter advising her that the one year statute of limitations for the insurance claim ran against the day-care and its employee. (RR. p. 3; TR. pp. 10,11) He also informed her that a suit had been filed and voluntarily dismissed and explained that no cause of action existed against HRS but that due to a recent Florida Supreme Court opinion, HRS' prior knowledge of sexual abuse by that employee could now support a claim against the agency. (RR. pp. 3,6; T. pp. 39,40)

Ms. Simon, by certified letter, requested a meeting and clarification of the status of her case. She met with the respondent in September 1988 at which time he told her he had been tied up with a big money lawsuit, which he had won, and he could now "do better" on her case. (RR. pp. 3,5; TR. p. 13)

Over a month later the respondent sent a letter advising Ms. Simon that he had filed a lawsuit against HRS, which would be set

for trial within nine to twelve months. (RR. p. 3,4; TR. p. 14)
The respondent filed the suit without prior discussion with or
notification of Ms. Simon and only sent her a copy after she
complained to The Florida Bar. (RR. p. 5,6) The respondent
admitted that he was prompted to file the second lawsuit by Ms.
Simon's grievance to the Bar and he wanted to show good faith and
that her case was moving forward. (RR. p. 7; T. p. 64)

Ms. Simon continued to try to contact the respondent but did not hear from him. Finally, Ms. Simon sent a certified letter in January 1990 again asking for copies of the documents and for information on the status of her case. (RR. p. 4; TR. p. 15) In February, 1990 Ms. Simon received a notice of taking deposition scheduled for March 27, 1990, which the respondent later canceled without so informing Ms. Simon. Ms. Simon learned several weeks later from the respondent's secretary that it had been cancelled but was not told why or if and when it would be rescheduled. (TR. p. 16; RR. p. 6)

The only time Ms. Simon would get a response from the respondent was after she contacted The Florida Bar. At one point the respondent called Ms. Simon and told her to "call off the war dogs", because he was working on the case now. (RR. p. 5; T. p. 14,33) The respondent finally wrote to Ms. Simon in August

1990 following her second complaint to The Florida Bar in July
1990 and sent the wrong documents in response to her request made
over one year and three months previously. He apologized for the
lack of communication saying her request "slipped through the
cracks", and blamed it on secretaries. (RR. p. 4; TR. p. 17)

The respondent did not adequately investigate the case and failed to return telephone calls. He failed to adequately communicate with Ms. Simon throughout the case, and, in fact, he admitted his obligation to keep his client informed and admitted his failure to communicate with Ms. Simon and keep her advised of the matters transpiring in her case. Further, the respondent stated that the case did not have much value and in April 1991 he tried to persuade her to dismiss the case. He also tried to refer her case to other attorneys who refused to take it because he had been "grievanced" by the client. The lawsuit against HRS is still active but the statute of limitations has run and if it is dismissed such claim is forever barred. (RR. pp. 6-8; TR. pp. 18,62,64,68; T. pp. 47-50)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee found that the respondent in this case failed to act with reasonable diligence in the handling of his client's case and failed to keep her informed of his progress despite numerous requests for information. The only time he would respond to requests for information or copies of documents was after the client contacted The Florida Bar. The respondent's conduct prejudiced his client's rights by failing to file any pleadings in her initial case resulting in its dismissal and by allowing the statute of limitations to run on her most viable claim before refiling the action. The case has been pending for a period of five years with little or no progress.

The Referee's recommendation of an admonishment of the respondent in these circumstances is clearly inappropriate under the Rules of Discipline, Rule 3-5.1(b) and Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(3) which state that an admonishment is only appropriate in a case based upon a finding of minor misconduct. The rules do not authorize the Referee to recommend a discipline of minor misconduct where the local grievance committee has found probable cause and he should respect the recommendations of the committee. Further, the recommended discipline is contrary to the standards for imposing discipline sanctions, Rule 4.43, which provides for

a public reprimand when the respondent's negligence causes injury or potential injury to the client.

This Court, however, is the final decision-maker and is the only entity which may authorize an admonishment in a probable cause case as the appropriate level of discipline.

ARGUMENT

THE REFERE'S RECOMMENDATION FOR DISCIPLINE OF AN ADMONISHMENT, AND A PUBLIC PROBABLE CAUSE CASE, IS ERRONEOUS IN LIGHT OF RULE 3-5.1(b) OF THE RULES OF DISCIPLINE WHICH PROVIDES THAT MINOR MISCONDUCT IS THE ONLY TYPE OF MISCONDUCT FOR WHICH AN ADMONISHMENT IS AN APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINARY SANCTION; AND RULE 3-7.6(k)(1)(3) WHICH PROVIDES THAT A REFEREE MAY ONLY RECOMMEND AN ADMONISHMENT IN CASES OF MINOR MISCONDUCT.

Minor misconduct is a term of art which refers to a specific type of discipline that results in an admonishment (formerly known as a private reprimand). The Rules of Discipline define minor misconduct by exception and set forth criteria in Rule 3-5.1(b) for types of cases that do not qualify for findings of minor misconduct absent unusual circumstances. Minor misconduct may be found in one of two ways. First, at the grievance committee level, the committee may find minor misconduct which finding is subject to approval by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar. Second, upon a probable cause finding resulting in the filing of a formal complaint with the Florida Supreme Court and an appointment of a referee, the respondent may admit to minor misconduct before the complaint is filed.

A referee must work within certain parameters established by the rules when imposing discipline and is authorized to recommend an admonishment only when a complaint of minor misconduct has been filed. Rule of Discipline 3-5.1(b)(4) and 3-7.6(k)(1)(3). In the case at hand the grievance committee, after hearing all of the testimony and considering the evidence, voted unanimously for probable cause. Therefore, a recommendation of an admonishment is not available to the referee under the rules. Rule 3-5.1(b)(1)(b) provides that an admonishment is not available when the misconduct results in, or is likely to result in, actual prejudice to a client or other person. In this instance the client has been prejudiced in that her case was neglected and drawn out for over five years with a major portion of the claim being lost due to the running of the statute of limitations.

In addition, an admonishment is inconsistent with the Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Rule 4.43 which provides that a public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer is negligent and does not act with reasonable diligence and causes injury or potential injury to a client.

The Bar recognizes that this court may choose to exercise its discretion and impose any level of discipline it deems appropriate under the circumstances of the case. The Florida Bar v. Doe, 550 So.2d 1111 (Fla. 1989) However, the judgment should be severe enough to deter not only the respondent but others from

engaging in similar misconduct. In light of the respondent's continued neglect and failure to communicate over a five year period such conduct is not minor and a public reprimand is the appropriate discipline. This Court should correct the Referee's erroneous recommendation in this case as it has done in the past when other Referees have made inappropriate disciplinary recommendations. The Florida Bar v. Musleh, 453 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1984)

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar prays this Honorable Court will review the Referee's findings of fact, recommendation of guilt, and recommendation as to discipline, and accept the findings of fact and recommendation as to guilt, but reject the recommendation as to discipline and order that the respondent be publicly reprimanded by personal appearance before the Board of Governors and tax costs against the respondent now totalling \$1,192.83.