HI SID J. WHITE JAN 30 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By. Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complaint,

v.

Case No. 77,837 [TFB No. 89-30,129 (09E]

HURLEY P. WHITAKER,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

R. LEE DOROUGH, ESQUIRE FLORIDA BAR NO. 251380 Whitaker, Dorough and Whitaker 45 W. Washington Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407-843-2222 Attorney for Defendant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent will adopt the Statement of Case as submitted by the Complainant, The Florida Bar.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In January, 1986, **Carter Mediato**, previously known as **Cartering**, retained the law firm Whitaker, Dorough and Whitaker to investigate and bring a claim on alleged sexual molestation of her three and one-half year old daughter by one **Carter**, who was employed by Mother Goose Day Care Center. (TR-6-7) The Respondent was the attorney assigned to investigate the case and to proceed on the claim if viable. (TR-6-7) During the initial pendency of the claim two insurance claim forms were sent to Mrs. **Carter** for her signature, returned to the Respondent and filed with the appropriate agencies. This was done because the insurance company for the day care center and therefore the individual, **Carter**, had gone into receivership and FIGA, also known as the Florida Guaranty Association, had taken over the handling of all claims. (TR-9)

The Respondent admits that there were several communication problems with the client. (TR-54,55) These problems were mostly caused by the Respondent, but it should also be noted that **Communication** changed addresses on several occasions during the three to four year time period in question and was many times unavailable upon phone calls being made to her. (TR-31-32-33,36)

The Respondent does not seek to excuse as his conduct for failing to properly communicate with the client and has admitted such in both the Grievance Committee Hearing and the before the Judicial Referee. (TR-55)

The Respondent has outlined several matters that were investigated in this claim, including the discovery of the information that **Constitute** herself had been involved in several HRS investigations for child abuse. These matters were of such a nature as to cause great concern about the viability of the cause of action and the proceedings that were being undertaken. (TR-25-30)

The Respondent did file a lawsuit without notifying **Constant** of this. The lawsuit was filed on June 30, 1986 against **Constant** and his employer, Mother Goose. The reason the lawsuit was filed was because of the changes in the tort law, which called in the question whether or not a claim involving joint and several liability would be eliminated. (TR-52)

The suit was not filed because investigation had revealed liability, but rather to protect rights under the law. This was the sole purpose of the lawsuit and no one has refuted the position taken by the Respondent in this matter. (TR-52)

While continuing the investigation of the claim the Respondent, and in order to avoid a dismissal for failure to prosecute, Respondent dismissed the case on June 29, 1987 because the case was not ready to be brought into full litigation. (TR-54)

The failure to inform the client of the filing of the lawsuit was made because the Respondent did not feel that the lawsuit was ready to be pursued and was merely being done to protect legal rights.

<u>3</u>

The Respondent was working under the assumption that there was a four year statute of limitation on the claim and after dismissal of the lawsuit failed to file the lawsuit by July 17, 1987, the statute of limitations, for FIGA cases actions. (TR-54)

had requested several meetings with the Respondent and when she failed to get these meetings filed complaints against the Respondent with The Florida Bar in July, 1988 and received a full response from the Respondent in this matter concerning her claim and where it stood, including an explanation of what had happened concerning the FIGA statute of limitations. (TR-36-39) The Florida Bar at that time chose not to pursue the complaint and the matter was dropped. The Respondent also filed a lawsuit against HRS within the required statutory period of time and said lawsuit is still pending. (TR-56-57)

Ms. Maximum has continued to complain that she has been unable to communicate adequately with the Respondent and has taken the position that she is only able to get information from the Respondent upon filing complaints with The Florida Bar.

It should also be noted that **contact** has never fired the Respondent in this case and has never asked him to cease pursuing these claims and has never contacted any other attorney about making claims against the Respondent. (TR-34)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Respondent takes the position that the punishment recommended by the Referee is appropriate under the circumstances due to lack of any prior disciplinary action against the Respondent, being that while there is a claim of prejudice to the client's rights the client was well advised of the statute of limitations running on her claim with FIGA and that she still has viable options against the Respondent, that the punishment recommended by the Referee as to the probationary term and reporting requirements is more than adequate to protect the public, the purposes punish the Respondent and to accomplish of disciplinary proceedings brought by The Florida Bar.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION FOR DISCIPLINE IS APPROPRIATE UNDER THE RULES OF THIS COURT AND THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

The Referee in this matter, in his report, made findings of fact as to each item of the misconduct. The only facts that the Respondent would respectfully disagree with Referee are minimal in nature. There is a disagreement as to whether or not the Respondent adequately investigated the case. The Respondent was unable to find the information available to pursue these claims in a manner desired by **Control**. (TR-34) Additionally, while it is repeated in the Referee's report and in the Bar's Brief in this case, the fact that two grievances had been previously filed against the Respondent, both of which have been found to have no probable cause, should not in some way create the inference that a greater punishment is now due. What the Referee found was that the attorney was guilty of Violating Rule 4.13 and 4.14. Rule 4.13 of The Florida Bar requires a lawyer to use reasonable diligence and promptness in representing his client and Rule 4.14 requires that the lawyer keep his client reasonably informed about the status of the matter and reply to a request for information.

It was the recommendation of the Referee that the Respondent be admonished under Rule 3-5.1a, Rules of Discipline and be placed on a probationary term. The Respondent in this case has always indicated a willingness to accept these punishments and to comply with the request of the Referee, however, The Bar, through the Board of Governors, has seen fit to appeal these recommendations on what appears to be basically two grounds.

The first ground is that the Referee had no right to make the recommendation of an admonishment, what used to be known as a It is the position of the Bar that under Rule private reprimand. 3-7.6(k)(1)(3)Referee 3-5(1)(b)(4)and Rule the has no jurisdiction to find minor misconduct. The language of Rule 3-5(1)(b)(4) merely states that a rejection by the Board of Governors of the Committee report of minor misconduct without dismissal shall be deemed a finding of probable cause and that when the rejection of that finding is made by the respondent, Referee may still recommend any discipline authorized under these rules. None of this occurred in the present case. The Grievance Committee did not make a finding of minor misconduct and felt that there was probable cause to continue this matter and the Respondent had no ability to The matter was taken accept or reject any such recommendation. specifically to the Judicial Referee after the filing of a formal complaint.

After hearing, under Rule 3-7.6(k), the Referee is to file a report and that report shall contain finding of facts and recommendation as to the guilt or innocence of the Respondent to charges of misconduct justifying disciplinary measures and allows a recommendation as to disciplinary measures to be applied, including one of admonishment.

If the Court interprets the rules as The Florida Bar wishes them to be interpreted then the Referee would be placed in the position of almost being a rubber stamp for The Florida Bar and the

Board of Governors. That is not the purpose of the rules. The rules are obviously intended to provide both sides a forum in which to present the facts, the evidence and the law and allow the Referee to make an appropriate recommendation of punishment based upon all the factors to be considered under the rules.

Under Rule 3-51b(b)(1) minor misconduct can be punished by admonishment as long as it does not involve misappropriation of funds, actual prejudice to a client, the respondent has not been previously publicly disciplined, the misconduct does not involve the same misconduct for which the respondent has been disciplined for in thepast five years the misconduct involves or misrepresentation, deceit or fraud or commission of a felony. It is obvious that even in the Bar's interpretation of what occurred in this matter that none of these criteria apply except the possible actual prejudice of the client by the loss of a legal right, that is the lawsuit against **second and** Mother Goose Day Care.

As is evident from the record in this case, that right normally would not have been lost in the four year statute of limitations if in fact the insurance company for the Defendant's has not gone bankrupt. The attorney in this case, as admitted by all parties in this case, properly filed the claim forms with the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association and proceeded on the premise, incorrectly, that he had four years in which to file the lawsuit and have it served. If the Court looks at the case of <u>Blizzard vs. W. H. Roof Company, Inc.</u>, 573 So2nd 334 (Florida 1991)

<u>8</u>

it is obvious that this special statute of limitations of one year has caught other attorneys, not only on the Blizzard case but in the cases cited therein and it is a unusual statute of limitations. This is not made as an excuse or a defense to the running of the statute of limitations but rather to appropriately place it in a situation, that while it may be negligent, it is not a deliberate disregard or a deliberate failure to examine or look at a file and properly diary it under the statute of limitations. It is The client was carelessness and an unfortunate circumstance. advised of it in 1988 and has been well aware of it through at least two proceedings before the Bar. The client had more than ample opportunity to bring any action against the attorney and there had never been an denial at this time that the attorney was in fact at fault for this running of the statute of limitations.

Without appearing to be facetious the only prejudice to the client is that she would have in fact had to sue her attorney on what would have been an open and shut case of allowing the statute of limitations to run and still prove the case against **Constant** and Mother Goose Day Care to show her damages.

There has been no deceit or fraud toward the client. The client has been advised of this situation repeatedly and had every opportunity to remedy the situation by the hiring of another attorney and until this date has still not terminated the services of the Respondent.

In looking at cases warranting public reprimands the Court could examine the case of <u>The Florida Bar vs. Stanley L. Rishkin</u>,

549 S02nd, 178 (Florida 1989). This case involved a situation in which the statute of limitations had run, however, there were other matters that came up in this in that there had been absolutely nothing done in the file, that when the case was finally filed there was a Motion for Summary Judgment which the respondent allowed to pass unopposed and he never advised his client of any of these matters. It was also discussed that the attorney had, in the past, received a private reprimand for a neglect of a legal duty.

The problem in researching this issue is obvious in that private reprimands and the matters and problems that led to them are not published and are therefore are impossible to properly research to determine where a case actually fits in prior case law. In the case of The Florida Bar vs. Knowlton, 527 So2nd 1378, (Florida 1988) this Court again discussed the issuance of public reprimand, the Court examined a case concerning attorney neglect. Based upon the finding of facts in that case it appears that no matter what the client did, no response could be received from her attorney, either verbally or written concerning a Worker's Compensation case and eventually the client fired the attorney and it is obvious from the findings of fact that the statute of limitation has run on the Worker's Compensation case because the attorney had never done anything in an attempt to resolve the case and had in fact was attempting to mislead the client at the status of the file. The Court may also examine the case of The Florida Bar vs Budish 422 So2nd 501 (Florida 1982) which dealt with misleading and false advertising.

<u>10</u>

It is apparent from all of these cases that usually in a case in which public reprimand is issued one of the overriding issues is some misleading or intentional misleading of the client, some falseness on the part of the attorney in an attempt to avoid responsibility for actions. While in the present case there has been a failure to properly communicate there has never been, based upon the evidence presented to any court, an attempt to avoid responsibility for the attorney's actions.

In the case cited by The Florida Bar in support of its position for review, that being <u>The Florida Bar vs Musleh</u>, 453 S02nd 794 (Florida 1984), this Court stated

"In weighing the proper discipline to be assessed on the facts of this case, we are mindful of the three purposes of the Bar discipline - punishment of the offender, deterrents of those who might be tempted to emulate the wrongdoer, and the protection of the public."

It is respectfully submitted that in this case all of these matters can be handled by the discipline the Judicial Referee has recommended in this case. The probationary term and the terms of that probation will more than adequately protect the public and create in the Respondent not only a requirement of proper notification and communication with his client but a structured way in which that will be handled. Respondent will be punished but in light of his prior record, which is clean of disciplinary actions, the punishment should not be punitive in nature.

Lastly the running of the statute of limitations and the failure to properly communicate with the client is a problem that every attorney is already well aware of and it would not serve any

<u>11</u>

useful purpose at this time to attempt to embarrass or humiliate the Respondent more than has already occurred.

.

,

•

.

.

,

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the Respondent prays this Court will review the Referee's findings of fact, recommendation of guilt and recommendation of discipline and accept those findings and en-total and tax costs against the Respondent of One Thousand, One Hundred and Ninety-two and 83/100 (\$1,192.83)

fully/submitte Respect R. LEE DOROUGH, ESQUIRE

FLORIDA BAR NO. 251380 Whitaker, Dorough and Whitaker 45 W. Washington Street Orlando, Florida 32801 407-843-2222 Attorney for Respondent